#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-15

ANTHONY WASHINGTON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard E. Kiley
Florida Bar No. 0558893
James V. Viggiano, Jr.
Florida Bar No. 0715336
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL - MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. On April 12, 1990, a Pinellas County grand jury

returned a three count indictment against Mr. Washington for first degree murder, burglary of a dwelling, and sexual battery.

- 2. After a jury trial on July 14-16 1992, before the Honorable Susan F. Schaeffer, Mr. Washington was found guilty, by a predominantly white jury, on all counts.
- 3. At Mr. Washington's penalty phase, July 17, 1992, the jury recommended that Mr. Washington be sentenced to life imprisonment.
- 4. On the burglary and sexual battery counts, the Court sentenced Mr. Washington as a habitual violent felony offender and sentenced him to consecutive life sentences, with a 15-year minimum. As to Mr. Washington's murder conviction, the Court overrode the jury's life recommendation and sentenced Mr. Washington to death.
- 5. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Washington's convictions and sentences. On April 25, 1995, the Florida Supreme Court revised its opinion and affirmed Mr. Washington's convictions and sentences.

  Washington v. State, 653 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1995). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 30, 1995.

  Washington v. Florida, 116 S.Ct. 387 (1995).
  - 6. On March 1, 1999, pursuant to Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.850,

Mr. Washington filed his amended Motion to Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentence. A hearing was held on August 12, 1999, in accordance with <a href="Huff v. State">Huff v. State</a>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1992). On October 5, 1999, the circuit court issued an order granting an evidentiary hearing on claims I(c), I(d) and I(g), as they pertained to the penalty phase of the trial. The remainder of the claims were summarily denied. An evidentiary hearing was held on November 18-19, 1999. The trial court entered an order on June 5, 2000, denying all claims of Appellant's 3.850 motion. Timely notice of appeal was filed on July 5, 2000. Mr. Washington was denied relief on November 14, 2002. A motion for rehearing was filed on December 2, 2002, and was denied on January 10, 2003.

7. On February 19, 2003, Mr. Washington through his counsel Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle, filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences with Special Request For Leave to Amend. The trial court denied said motion on November 18, 2003. This appeal follows.

# II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

SUBSEQUENT DEVELOPMENTS AND CLARIFICATION IN THE LAW CLEARLY INDICATE THAT BASED UPON THE UNIQUE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF MR. WASHINGTON'S CASE HE IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF.

A.1 <u>Keen</u> establishes that <u>Tedder</u> was not properly

applied to Mr. Washington's case. The trial court erred in a misapplication of the <u>Tedder</u> standard. The trial court disagreed with the jury life recommendation based on its view of the mix of aggravators and mitigators, rather than through the prism of a <u>Tedder</u> analysis.

- A.2 An overview of the jury override cases in Florida from 1974 until 2000, the year <u>Keen</u> was decided, and the intent of the override provision indicate that the majority of the override cases were reversed on direct appeal. A significant remainder of the cases found relief in post-conviction proceedings and through the federal courts. The disparate treatment of Mr. Washington's case should now be addressed due to developments in the law which were unavailable to Washington at the time his pleadings were filed.
- B. The trial court erred because it was under a misapprehension of fact and law in overriding the jury recommendation of a life sentence and in ignoring non-statutory mitigation which the jury found in recommending a life sentence but which the trial court overrode. The trial court did not have the benefit of the clarification of Keen when it improperly applied the Tedder standard.
  - C. The 3.850 court erred in affirming the jury override

in Mr. Washington's case. Trial counsel's ineffectiveness in the investigation and presentation of additional non-statutory mitigation prejudiced his case in the penalty phase of the trial and Mr. Washington is entitled to relief under the cumulative holdings of <a href="Eutzy">Eutzy</a>, (1989), <a href="Torres-Arboleda">Torres-Arboleda</a>, (1994), <a href="Keen">Keen</a>, (2000), <a href="Williams">Williams</a>, (2000), <a href="Ragsdale">Ragsdale</a>, (2001) and <a href="Wiggins">Wiggins</a>, (2003). Had the 3.850 court had the benefit of the recent cases the override would have been reversed on ineffectiveness grounds.

D. In 1994, the year of Mr. Washington's direct appeal, the Tedder standard was applied in an arbitrary manner, depriving Washington of his rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments and in violation of the holding in Ring and the concurring opinions in Bottoson and King. Of the eight jury override cases before the Florida Supreme Court in 1994, six were reversed based upon an improper application of the Tedder standard. Although the same improper application existed in Mr. Washington's case, the 1994 Court did not have the benefit of Keen. Logic dictates that if under Ring, the aggravation cannot be presumed to have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial court cannot second guess the jury recommendation and presume to determine which mitigation was relied upon by the jury and which was not in an override case.

E. Justice Stevens' concurring opinion in Ring indicate that the highest court in the country is aware that the jury is better able to determine in a particular case the need for retribution, rather than the trial court, particularly in the case of jury overrides. In the Scalia concurring opinion, he expressed the opinion that precedents are not sacrosanct and there are instances where overruling prior decisions are both necessary and proper.

Justice Lewis' concurring opinion in <u>Bottoson</u> call in to question the continuing validity of the concept of trial court's overriding jury recommendations of life imprisonment. Justice Quince in her concurring opinion in <u>Bottoson</u>, states that the issue of a trial court overriding a jury's life recommendation was not properly before the <u>Bottoson</u> Court. Mr. Washington's case was not ripe for review at the time of <u>King</u> and <u>Bottoson</u>. The unique facts and circumstances of his case should be considered by this Court.

## ARGUMENT I

SUBSEQUENT DEVELOPMENTS AND CLARIFICATION IN THE LAW CLEARLY INDICATE THAT BASED UPON THE UNIQUE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF MR. WASHINGTON'S CASE HE IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF

# A. 1. <u>Keen</u> establishes that <u>Tedder</u> was not properly applied to Mr. Washington's case

In the direct appeal of Mr. Washington's case the court affirmed the jury override based upon <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). <u>See Washington v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 362, 365 (Fla. 1994). At the time of the decision, neither the trial court nor this Court had the benefit of the clarification of the <u>Tedder</u> standard set forth in <u>Keen v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 263 (Fla. 2000).

## A. 2. An overview of the jury override in Florida.

Since the State of Florida reinstated the death penalty, approximately 150 cases involving judicial overrides of jury recommendations of life imprisonment have reached this Court on direct appellate review. As is seen from the discussion in this brief, it is clear that "appealing a 'life override' under Florida's capital sentencing scheme is akin to Russian Roulette. Engle v. Florida, 102 S.Ct. 1094, 1098 (1988) (Marshall and Brennan, JJ., dissenting from the denial of petition for writ of

certiorari).

In 1974, one override case was reviewed by this Court,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>, Florida is one of only four states that allows a judge to override a capital sentencing jury's recommendation of life imprisonment.

and it was reversed, resulting in a 100% reversal rate. In 1975, the year of the seminal decision in Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), five override cases reached the Court, three were reversed and two were affirmed, resulting in a 60% reversal rate. In 1976, five capital override cases were reviewed; three were reversed and two affirmed, again a 60% reversal rate. In 1977, four cases were reviewed; two were reversed and two affirmed, again a 60% reversal rate. In 1977, four cases were reviewed; two were reversed and two affirmed, a 50% reversal rate. In 1978, two cases reached the Court, and both were reversed - - a 100% reversal rate. In 1979, three cases were reviewed; two were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 294 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1974)

<sup>3</sup> Swan v. State, 322 So.2d 485 (Fla. 1975); Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975); Slater v. State, 316 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1975)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1975); <u>Sawyer v.</u> <u>State</u>, 313 So.2d 680 (Fla. 1975).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Chambers v. State, 339 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1976); <u>Provence</u> v. State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 615 (Fla. 1976)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>Dobbert v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1976); <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1976).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> McCaskill v. State/Williams v. State, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977); Burch v. State, 343 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1977).

<sup>8</sup> Hoy v. State, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977); Barclay v. State/Dougan v. State, 343 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 1977).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> <u>Shue v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1978); <u>Buckrem v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 355 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1978).

reversed<sup>10</sup> and one affirmed,<sup>11</sup> a reversal rate of 66%. In 1980, six override cases were reviewed; five were reversed<sup>12</sup> and one affirmed,<sup>13</sup> an 83% reversal rate. In 1981, fourteen override cases reached the Court; eleven were reversed,<sup>14</sup> and three were affirmed,<sup>15</sup> resulting in a 78% reversal rate. In 1982, seven cases reached the Court; four were reversed<sup>16</sup> and three were

<sup>10</sup> Malloy v. State, 382 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1979); Brown v.
State, 367 So.2d 616 (Fla. 1979).

<sup>11</sup> Dobbert v. State, 375 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1979).

<sup>12</sup> Williams v. State, 386 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1980); McCrae v.
State, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1980); Phippen v. State, 389 So.2d
991 (Fla. 1980); Neary v. State, 384 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1980);
Hall v. State, 381 So.2d 683 (Fla. 1980).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980).

Burford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981); Zeigler v.
 State, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981); White v. State, 403 So.2d
331 (Fla. 1981).

affirmed<sup>17</sup> a 57% reversal rate. In 1983, ten cases were appealed, seven were reversed<sup>18</sup>, and three affirmed,<sup>19</sup> a 70% reversal rate. In 1984, nine cases reached the Court; two were reversed,<sup>20</sup> and seven were affirmed,<sup>21</sup> a 22% reversal rate. In 1985, seven cases were reviewed, two were reversed,<sup>22</sup> and five were affirmed,<sup>23</sup> a 28% reversal rate. In 1986, six

<sup>17</sup> Bolender v. State, 422 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1982); Stevens v.
State, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982); Miller v. State, 415 So.2d
1262 (Fla. 1982).

Norris v. State, 429 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1983); Herzog v.
State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983); Richardson v. State, 437
So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1983); Hawkins v. State, 436 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1983); Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1983); Webb v.
State, 433 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1983); Cannady v. State, 427 So.2d (Fla. 1983)

<sup>20</sup> Rivers v. State, 458 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1984); Thompson v. State, 456 So.2d 444 (Fla. 1984)

<sup>21</sup> Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984); Thomas v.
State, 456 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1984); Groover v. State, 458 So.2d
226 (Fla. 1984); Parker v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984);
Gorham v. State, 454 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1984); Heiney v. State,
447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984); Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984).

<sup>22</sup> Huddleston v. State, 475 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1985); Barclay
v. State, 470 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1985).

<sup>23</sup> Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985); Mills v.
State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985); Brown v. State, 473 So.2d
1260 (Fla. 1985); Francis v. State, 473 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1985);
Burr v. State, 466 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1985).

override cases reached the Court; one was reversed for a new trial<sup>24</sup> and one was reversed because no written findings were entered by the trial judge in violation of Florida Law.<sup>25</sup> Of the four remaining cases where the override was analyzed, all were reversed, for a 100% reversal rate.<sup>26</sup> In 1987, of the six cases reviewed, five were reversed,<sup>27</sup> and one was affirmed,<sup>28</sup> for an 83% reversal rate. In 1988, nine override cases were analyzed, eight were reversed<sup>29</sup> and one affirmed,<sup>30</sup> for an 89% rate of reversal. In 1989, six override cases were analyzed;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> <u>Ramos v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1986).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> <u>VanRoyal v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1986).

<sup>26</sup> Irizarry v. State, 496 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1986); Brookings
v. State, 495 So.2d 135 (Fla. 1986); Nelson v. State, 490
So.2d 32 (Fla. 1986); Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1986).

<sup>27</sup> Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1987); Masterson v.
State, 516 So.2d 256 (Fla. 1987); Fead v. State, 512 So.2d 32
(Fla. 1987); Hansbrough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987);
Ferry v. State, 507 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Engle v. State, 510 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1987).

<sup>29</sup> Spivey v. State, 529 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1988); Harmon v.
State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988); Brown v. State, 526 So.2d
903 (Fla. 1988); Caillier v. State, 523 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1988);
Perry v. State, 522 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1988); Holsworth v. State,
522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988); Burch v. State, 522 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1988); DuBoise v. State, 520 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1988).

<sup>30</sup> Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So.2d 403 (Fla. 1988).

five were reversed<sup>31</sup> and one was affirmed,<sup>32</sup> for an 83% reversal rate. In 1990, five override cases were reviewed by the Court, all were reversed.<sup>33</sup> In 1991, eleven overrides reached the high court; ten were reversed<sup>34</sup> and one case, on appeal from a <a href="https://discourt.html"><u>Hitchcock</u> resentencing, was affirmed,<sup>35</sup> for a 91% reversal rate. In 1992, of the seven overrides appealed, four were reversed<sup>36</sup> and three affirmed,<sup>37</sup> for a 57% reversal rate. In

<sup>31</sup> Christian v. State, 550 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1989); Fuente v. State, 549 So.2d 652 (Fla. 1989); Freeman v. State, 547 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1989); Cochran v. State, 547 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1989); Pentecost v. State, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Thompson v. State, 553 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1989).

<sup>33</sup> Buford v. State, 570 So.2d 923 (Fla. 1990); Cheshire v.
State, 568 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1990); Carter v. State, 560 So.2d
1166 (Fla. 1990); Hallman v. State, 560 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1990);
Morris v. State, 557 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1990).

<sup>34</sup> Bedford v. State, 589 So.2d 245 (Fla. 1991); Savage v.
State, 588 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1991); Craig v. State, 585 So.2d
223 (Fla. 1991); Wright v. State, 586 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1991);
McCrae v. State, 582 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1991); Cooper v. State,
581 So.2d 49 (Fla. 1991); Dolinsky v. State, 576 So.2d 271
(Fla. 1991); Downs v. State, 574 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1991);
Hegwood v.State, 575 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991); Douglas v. State,
575 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> <u>Ziegler v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991).

<sup>36</sup> Scott v. State, 603 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1992); Reilly v.
State, 601 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1992); Jackson v. State, 599 So.2d
103 (Fla. 1992); Stevens v. State, 613 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> <u>Coleman v. State</u>, 610 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1992); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 610 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1992); <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 799 (Fla. 1992).

1993, the one override decided by the Court was affirmed.<sup>38</sup> In 1994, eight cases were decided on direct appeal, including Mr. Washington's case; six were reversed<sup>39</sup> and two affirmed.<sup>40</sup> In 1995, one override case was decided and it was reversed,<sup>41</sup> for a 100% reversal rate. In 1996, three override cases were decided, and all were reversed,<sup>42</sup> for a 100% reversal rate. In 1997, three override cases were decided, and all were reversed,<sup>43</sup> for a 100% reversal rate. In 1998, three override cases were decided, one was affirmed<sup>44</sup> and two reversed.<sup>45</sup> In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> <u>Williams v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1993). The defendant in <u>Williams</u> was the co-defendant of defendants Robinson and Coleman, whose overrides were affirmed in 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> <u>Turner v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 444 (Fla. 1994); <u>Barrett v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1994); <u>Caruso v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1994); <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1994); <u>Parker v. State</u>, 643 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1994); <u>Christmas v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1994).

<sup>40</sup> Garcia v. State, 644 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1994); Washington v. State, 653 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1994).

<sup>41 &</sup>lt;u>Perez v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 715 (Fla. 1995).

<sup>42</sup> Boyett v. State, 688 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1996); Strausser v.
State, 682 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1996); Craig v. State, 685 So.2d
1224 (Fla. 1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> <u>Pomeranz v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1997); <u>Marta-Rodriguez v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1997); <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 692 So.2d 893 (Fla. 1997).

<sup>44 &</sup>lt;u>Zakrzewski v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 462 (Fla.1998); <u>Mahn v.</u> <u>State</u>, 714 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1998).

1999, no override cases were decided by the Court. In 2000, one override case was decided, and it was reversed, 46 for a 100% reversal rate.

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