IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC04-15

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
Concourse Center #4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 287-7910

Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

not raised in Griffin's postconviction motion below. Thus, this claim is not properly before this Court."). To the extent that appellant's argument in Issue I is intended as an essay to lobby the legislature to alter the current statute for what appellant deems should become the law, appellee is confident that the legislature will give the suggestions the considerations that are appropriately due them. However, to the extent appellant seeks to have this Court legislate a new and different statute, the request is improper and should be denied.²

Appellant first asserts in subsection (A)(1) in Issue I that Keen establishes that Tedder was not properly applied to Washington's case. The short answer to this is that on appellant's last appeal -- from the denial of postconviction relief and the denial of habeas corpus relief -- Washington sought relief relying on Keen v. State, 775 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2000). This Court's unanimous ruling denying relief obviates the need to revisit Keen.

Washington's repeated attempt to relitigate his prior appeals by reliance on <u>Keen v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2000) is unavailing. As stated by this Court in <u>Mills v. Moore</u>, 786

² Appellee notes that subsection (C) in Issue I of appellant's brief, comprising over fifteen pages, seems an almost identical duplication of Washington's Motion for Rehearing following this Court's prior rejection of his arguments on the last postconviction appeal. Since the Court unanimously denied the Motion for Rehearing as well, little purpose would be served in addressing now what this Court has already rejected.

So. 2d 532, 539-540 (Fla. 2001):

While conceding that <u>Keen</u> is not new law, Mills nonetheless argues that <u>Keen</u>'s application of Tedder constitutes a new standard by which jury override cases are reviewed. <u>Keen</u> is not а constitutional change or jurisprudential upheaval of the law as it was espoused in Keen offers no new or different standard for considering jury overrides on Thus, we disagree with Mills' contention that **Keen** offers a new standard of law and we reject the contention that Keen was anything more than an application of our long-standing <u>Tedder</u> analysis.

Tedder is the seminal case in Florida on jury overrides and remains so after <u>Keen</u>. <u>Tedder</u> was applied to this case. <u>Keen</u> provides no basis for our reconsideration of this issue. For these reasons, we deny Mills' petition for writ of habeas corpus.

Similarly, here, too, this Court has correctly applied <u>Tedder</u> previously and there is no basis to revisit it.

In subsection (A)(2) in Issue I, Washington purports to provide an overview of the jury override in Florida; he apparently is noting that a number of override cases have not been sustained on direct appeal and further that some that have been approved by this Court on direct appeal have subsequently been set aside either in the state or federal postconviction courts, either primarily because of perceived violations of Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), a determination of trial counsel ineffectiveness, or due to the subsequent granting of relief to a codefendant. Since none of these conditions

apply here -- appellant acted alone, no <u>Hitchcock</u> error and trial counsel has been held not to have violated the <u>Strickland</u>³ standard -- citation to these cases is irrelevant. To the extent that appellant mentions any of these cases to suggest that the imposition of a death sentence following a life recommendation is somehow improper or illegal, that view is mistaken. Indeed, Mr. Dobbert and Mr. White were executed although they had received life recommendations from the jury.⁴ Appellant concludes his suggestion for improvement by advocating that trial judges should only override death recommendations, not life recommendations, citing Justice Stevens' dissent in <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). The majority decided in <u>Spaziano</u>, however, that:

In light of the facts that the Sixth Amendment does not require jury sentencing, that the demands of fairness and reliability

³ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

 $^{^4}$ While it is perhaps correct that <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1973) has noted that the legislature chose to have the trial judge determine the sentence to be imposed because the judge has "the requisite knowledge to balance the facts of the case against the standard criminal activity which can only be developed by involvement with the trials of numerous defendants," there is no validity to appellant's charge (Brief, p. 16) that the use of the override is "overwhelmingly" to impose death over life recommendations. Appellant's own citation to the paucity of cases involving jury overrides as well as the fact that this Court never sees and therefore cannot know that trial courts most frequently impose life sentences where there has been a life recommendation belies the assertion that the override is "overwhelmingly" used to impose death over life recommendations.

in capital cases do not require it, and that neither the nature of, nor the purpose behind, the death penalty requires jury sentencing, we cannot conclude that placing responsibility on the trial judge to impose the sentence in a capital case is unconstitutional.

The legislature has not chosen to alter Florida's scheme in the two decades since <u>Spaziano</u> despite the opportunity to consider appellant's suggestion.

In subsection (B) in Issue I, appellant merely repeats his disagreement with Judge Schaeffer's rejection of his arguments in the prior postconviction motion. Judge Schaeffer's rejection of course was affirmed by this Court's denial of relief. Appellant repeats that the trial court erred in rejecting the jury life recommendation under Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975) and its progeny but no persuasive reason is advanced which would warrant reconsideration of this Court's prior adverse disposition of his claim. While the caption of his argument alludes to "subsequent developments," he continues to rely on <u>Keen v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2000), a case he repeatedly cited in his Initial Brief and his Motion for Rehearing. Since this Court unanimously denied relief in the decision affirming Judge Schaeffer's order and the Motion for Rehearing, no valid purpose would be served by repeated reconsideration of the rejected argument.

In subsection (C) in Issue I, as stated above, appellant

repeats the previously-rejected argument that the lower court had erred in affirming the jury override in this case and to some extent re-asserts the argument he advanced in his prior Motion for Rehearing. As noted above, appellee submits that this Court's jurisprudence is clear that postconviction relief is unavailable simply by arguing in a second, third or fourth postconviction pleading the same contentions previously heard, considered and rejected by the Court on direct appeal and the initial postconviction challenge. See Allen v. State, 854 So. 2d 1255, 1258 n.4 (Fla. 2003) (finding procedural bar, "claims 8, 9 and 10 were raised on direct appeal."); Jones v. State, 845 So. 2d 55, 72 n.38 (Fla. 2003)(trial court correctly found issues procedurally barred because they should have been or were raised on direct appeal); Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2003)(substantive claims of prosecutorial misconduct and juror bias procedurally barred since not raised on appeal); Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 35 (Fla. 2003) (repeatedly stating that issues are procedurally barred because they could have and should have been raised on direct appeal, citing Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1335 (Fla. 1997) and <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995)); <u>Shere v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 215, 217-218 n.7 (Fla. 1999); <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 550 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1989).

ISSUE II

WHETHER RING V. ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) REQUIRES APPELLANT'S SENTENCE BE REDUCED TO LIFE IMPRISONMENT.

Judge Schaeffer correctly denied appellant's successive motion for postconviction relief on the claim presented below that Ring required vacation of the sentence of death that had been imposed. Initially, appellee would note that relief should have been denied below for Washington's failure to comply with the requirement of Rule 3.851(e)(2)(B), Fla.R.Crim.P., to provide "the reason or reasons the claim or claims raised in the present motion were not raised" previously. It does not suffice that Ring was recently decided since the Sixth Amendment and the operation of the Florida statute have been known for years.

Appellee respectfully submits that relief must be denied and the lower court order affirmed because the Ring/Apprendi claim is (a) procedurally barred for the failure to present the claim in earlier proceedings; (b) unavailable in this successive postconviction motion because Ring is not retroactively applicable; (c) inapplicable since under Florida law, death is the maximum penalty for first degree murder; (d) unavailable since the jury unanimously found in the guilt phase that appellant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of felonies of burglary and sexual battery, thus satisfying the exception of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). As explained

below, appellant is mistaken in the belief that the Constitution requires that the jury concur in the court's sentencing for the valid imposition of a death sentence.

(A) THE INSTANT CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED:

The lower court correctly determined that Washington's <u>Ring</u> claim was procedurally barred (R II, 279-280):

E. <u>Washington Is Procedurally Barred</u> from Raising Ring

Simply put, Washington's claim is procedurally barred. There can be no question that Washington did not raise a Sixth Amendment right to а determination οf the aggravating claim circumstances at trial, at sentencing proceeding, on appeal from his conviction and sentence, or in his first 3.851 Motion. Certainly he could have raised this at trial or in his first motion. This court has seen many motions listened many arquments where the to attorney conceded that he or she was preserving an issue for federal review or because he or she thought the existing state or federal law should be changed. Public Defender in the Sixth Circuit has a packet of motions he files in every death penalty case to preserve issues, even though the present law is contrary to his position. As the state argued in their Response, the Florida Supreme Court has applied the procedural bar doctrine to claims brought under Apprendi. See e.g. McGregor v. State, 789 So. 2d [976] (Fla. 2001) (Apprendi claim procedurally barred for failure to raise in trial court.); Barnes v. State, 794 So. 2d error 590 2001) (<u>Apprendi</u> (Fla. preserved appellate review.) for Additionally, the Eleventh Circuit found the Ring claim to be procedurally barred where it wasn't raised in the state courts, and did a good analysis of why they believed

that Florida's case law would cause the <u>Ring</u> claim to likewise be procedurally barred in Florida's state courts. <u>Turner v. Crosby</u>, 339 F.3d 1247, 1280-1282 (11th Cir. 2003).

While appellant might contend that Ring v. Arizona had not been decided at the time of trial, that fact does not suffice to avoid the procedural default. What is important is not the existence of a particular decision but whether the tools were available to construct the argument. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 133 (1982); Pitts v. Cook, 923 F.2d 1568, 1571-1572 (11th Cir. 1991). The Sixth Amendment right to jury trial has always been known and the tools have been available for the defense to construct the argument. See Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, (1976)(holding Constitution does not require jury sentencing); Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989)("This case presents us once again with the question whether the Sixth Amendment requires a jury to specify the aggravating factors that permit the imposition of capital punishment in Florida."); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). See also Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1281-82 (11th Cir. 2003) ("Indeed, despite their apparent futility, there have been numerous unsuccessful Sixth Amendment challenges to Florida's capital sentencing structure in the last twenty years." citing Hildwin v. State, 531 So. 2d 124, 129 (Fla. 1988); Spaziano v. State, 433 So. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1983); and <u>Barclay v. Florida</u>, 463 U.S. 939 (1983)). Obviously, the decision in Ring was not required as a

predicate for counsel for Ring to assert his Sixth Amendment claim in a timely and appropriate fashion in the Arizona trial court.

In his next subsection under this point (Appellant's Brief, pp. 51-57), Washington apparently argues that in the entire year of 1994 this Court applied the <u>Tedder</u> standard in an arbitrary manner. This claim must be rejected for several reasons. First and foremost, this argument has nothing to do with the claim for relief under Ring that appellant presented below and upon which Judge Schaeffer ruled. Since this claim was not presented below it cannot be asserted ab initio on appeal. Washington v. State, 835 So. 2d 1083, 1087 (Fla. 2002)("As for Washington's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a Frye hearing on the DNA evidence, this issue is procedurally barred; it was not raised below in his rule 3.850 motion."); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 838 So. 2d 535, 539 (Fla. 2003) ("A claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel must be raised in circuit court, not this Court, for--above all--it is this Court's job to review a circuit court's ruling on a rule 3.850 claim, not to decide the merits of that claim."). also Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988)(finding postconviction claim raised for the first time on appeal was procedurally barred); Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, n.5 (Fla. 2003)("On appeal, Griffin alleges a new basis for his claim of

judicial bias. He contends that the trial judge was a friend of the victim's father and that defense counsel was aware of this fact. However, this new claim is not properly before this Court. [citation omitted]. Thus, we only consider the two grounds for recusal that Griffin raised in the circuit court.") and n.7 ("The trial court's instruction on the penalty phase voting was not raised in Griffin's postconviction motion below. Thus, this claim is not properly before this Court.").

Moreover, appellant does not explain on what authority the lower court would have to pronounce this Court's 1994 rulings to be arbitrary, unworthy of respect and subject to being overruled in the Sixth Judicial Circuit.

Appellant apparently is continuing in a belated fashion to disagree with this Court's affirmance of the direct appeal and the denial of his rehearing motion which he had filed in December of 1994. Rather than reflecting arbitrariness, this Court's affirmance noted that the instant case was more appropriately comparable to cases like Coleman v. State, 610 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1992). Washington v. State, 653 So. 2d at 366. See also this Court's approval of judicial override of jury

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